Transforming Pedagogy: Tensions, Barriers and Opportunities for Decolonizing the Model of Higher Education in Western Universities

Sophie Marie Wichert

Global Responsibility and Leadership - Capstone Bachelor Thesis

University of Groningen

Indira van der Zande

06.06.2025

Abstract

Western higher education pedagogy is fundamentally shaped by colonial legacies, with dominant "banking model", conceptualized by Freire, reinforcing hierarchical, decontextualized and exclusionary forms of knowledge transmission. In response, a growing body of literature explores decolonial pedagogies aimed at challenging these frameworks. However, their implementation faces significant challenges that limit their transformative potential. This thesis employs a narrative literature review guided by an explorative scoping approach, to investigate the suggested pedagogical strategies, and the corresponding tensions and barriers. The review identifies four categories of decolonial pedagogies, namely 1) relational pedagogies and student agency, 2) place-based and community-centered learning, 3) reflexivity and critical consciousness, and 4) creative and arts-based pedagogies. These provide a useful toolkit for educators seeking decolonial reform. However, five key barriers persist: 1) the coloniality of academic institutions, 2) the coloniality of knowledge, 3) the emotional burden of decolonial work, 4) the lack of diversity in faculty and student bodies and 5) neoliberal pressures that shape educational priorities. These findings reveal a central contradiction: Decolonial pedagogies offer transformative potential, but are often restricted by the very structures they seek to dismantle. This risks superficial reform and disproportionately burdens marginalized individuals. While institutionalization may expand reach, it often lacks the ethical grounding needed for genuine transformation. Future efforts should embrace the complexity of decolonial work, and prioritize relational, bottom-up initiatives. Such gradual transformation from within may currently represent the most viable path forward.

Keywords: Decolonial pedagogy, higher education, structural barriers, institutional resistance, critical consciousness, decolonial ethics, narrative literature review

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Indira van der Zande, my supervisor, for her thoughtful guidance throughout this thesis. Her insightful feedback and critical perspectives were invaluable at every stage of my research. Not to forget her genuine enthusiasm and kind words of encouragement, which were inspiring, and helped me navigate the more challenging moments of this process. Furthermore, I am truly grateful for the participants in my explorative scoping of the state of the art, who kindly took the time to discuss my research and shared their insights, experiences, and reflections on decolonizing higher education. Their openness, trust, and encouragement were not only extremely helpful for this work, but also deeply meaningful to me on a personal level. Special thanks go to the lecturers within the Global Responsibility and Leadership programme, whose teaching has profoundly shaped both this research and my personal development. Over the last three years, they have challenged me, supported me, and guided me through moments of questioning, discomfort, and resistance. Their compassion and commitment to transformation have helped me begin to decolonize my own thinking and worldview. Finally, I am grateful for my family and friends, for giving me their honest feedback when I needed it, while also cheering me on and restoring my faith in myself in moments of doubt.

Table of Contents

Introduction	5
Methodology	8
Narrative Literature Review	8
Critical Reflections on My Positionality as a Researcher	10
Literature Review – Part 1: Current Decolonial Strategies	12
1) Relational Pedagogies and Student Agency	12
2) Place-Based and Community-Centered Learning	14
3) Reflexivity and Critical Consciousness	15
4) Creative and Arts-Based Pedagogies	16
Literature Review – Part 2: Challenges, Tensions, and Barriers	18
1) The Coloniality of Academic Institutions	18
2) The Coloniality of Knowledge	20
3) Emotional Load	22
4) Lack of Diversity in Faculty and Student Body	24
5) Neoliberal Pressures	26
Discussion	28
Contradictions in Institutionalizing Decolonial Effort	28
Promoting 'Communities of Practice'	30
Reform vs. Revolution	31
Limitations and Directions for Future Research	33

Conclusion	34
References	36
Appendix. Statement of Academic Integrity	47

Introduction

In recent decades, the call to decolonize higher education, particularly in western universities, has received increasing attention¹. My previous essay "Why We Should Decolonize" the White, Western University" (Wichert, 2024b) explores the contributions of different influential authors in this context, and argues that the white, western university does not only perpetuate epistemic injustice², but actively reinforces the status quo and thus upholds the hegemony of the global north through oppressive power structures. It does so through the predominant pedagogy, which has been conceptualized by the Brazilian author Paulo Freire in "Pedagogy of the Oppressed", first published in 1968 (Freire & Macedo, 2014). In what Freire calls the "Banking Model of Education", teachers are perceived as the sole holders of knowledge deposit information into passive students, reinforcing hierarchical relationships, discouraging scrutiny of supposedly universal and objective information and thus suppressing and independent thinking³. As an alternative approach, Freire introduces "Problem-Posing Education" that facilitates an interactive learning process in which students and teachers collaborate to create and exchange knowledge through dialogues and experiences. This model fosters independent thinking and encourages students to critically engage and ultimately transform their lived realities.

Since then, there has been an increasing number of contributions to the decolonization of the western university. However, critics have pointed out that the discourse has paid a lot of attention to addressing external injustices, such as historical exclusion or systemic inequality

¹ It is noteworthy that, while a more widely spread interest in intellectual decolonization may have emerged rather recently among northern academics, this movement already existed in the Global South much earlier (Moosavi, 2020 citing Behari-Leak, 2019; Maldonado-Torres, 2011; Mignolo, 2014, pp. 586–588; Thiong'o, 1986, p. 89, 95)

² 'Epistemology' is the study of knowledge, and thus determines what we consider to be 'valid' knowledge and how it is produced. Consequently, 'epistemic injustice' refers to marginalization within processes of knowledge production (Fricker, 2007).

³ See Wichert (2014b, pp. 5-6) for a more detailed explanation of Freire's critique of the "banking model", and how it inhibits wider efforts of decolonization and liberation.

(Hayes et al., 2021). While this is a necessary step that is long overdue, and still remains insufficiently addressed by most institutions, the discourse tends to neglect the internal structures of knowledge production and dissemination that sustain epistemic colonialism. Furthermore, the majority of efforts that do address these internal structures have focused on the curriculum, targeting the material content and its purpose, which usually involves diversified syllabi to include readings by thinkers from the global South (Bhambra et al., 2018; Enslin and Hedge, 2024; Shahjahan et al., 2022). As stated by Maryluz Hoyos (2023):

"Even though there might be overlap between the decolonial content and the decolonial processes of teaching and learning, decolonial praxis (...) distinguish[es] classroom interventions in pedagogy and curriculum. (...) decolonial content through the curriculum incorporates knowledges, perspectives, and non-Western epistemologies, while decolonial processes of teaching and learning involve challenging practices that perpetuate power imbalances." (p. 18)

This highlights the challenge of addressing coloniality⁴ through educational practices, instead of just discussing it intellectually. Freire's idea of praxis, namely combining theory, values, reflection, and action is essential here: Learning is not simply about theorizing, but must lead to real-world action, which in turn should be guided by reflection (Freire, 1969 as cited in Hayes et al., 2021). Changing *what* is taught, without addressing *how* it is taught, and examining the power dynamics at play in the classroom, will likely remain superficial (Enslin & Hedge, 2024). Instead, decolonial (teaching) practice requires "true commitment to the people, involving the transformation of the reality by which they are oppressed" (Ibid, p. 897), and includes "engaging with rather than thinking about historically marginalized groups" (Mignolo & Walsh as cited in

- .

⁴ In this context, coloniality refers to the persisting power structures and hierarchies established during historical colonialism that continue to shape knowledge and institutions today.

Hoyos, 2023, p. 20). The need for reflexivity (critically examining one's own positionality and biases), relationships, values, and norms is emphasized as a key component of this process.

Therefore, scholars, educators and activists have emphasized the need for a more holistic decolonization of higher education that addresses the pedagogy itself⁵. Beyond the mere curriculum design, 'pedagogy' refers to the instructional and relational teaching and learning practices (Shahjahan et al., 2022). That also includes assessment⁶ and feedback methods, classroom interactions and dialogues, student-teacher relationships, and underlying power dynamics.

Previous research reveals a diversity of strategies proposed and/or implemented across the globe, that seek to address the grievances put forth by Freire. However, there is a notable lack of literature that systematically addresses the specific challenges involved when implementing these strategies. Although several authors mention challenges in passing, or as part of broader discussions⁷, these studies rarely dedicate focused and sustained attention to the complex tensions and barriers associated with the different dimensions of decolonizing higher education. Few exceptions provide a more specific and categorized analysis of the challenges faced by decolonial efforts in institutional settings⁸. Nonetheless, the majority of their analyses are concerned with the challenges arising from decolonizing the curriculum or the institution itself, and rarely explore the specific implications for pedagogy.

-

⁵ E.g. Andreotti et al. (2015), Bhambra et al. (2018) and Davis et al. (2018).

⁶ Although mainstream educational discourse tends to treat pedagogy as separate from assessment, the mentioned strategies include methods of both decolonial teaching and assessment. From a critical, decolonial standpoint it becomes clear that assessment is pedagogy: Scholars argue that colonial and neoliberal-capitalist logics tend to be most deeply embedded in grading, standardization and concepts of merit (Castillo-Montoya & Madriaga, 2024; Godsell et al., 2024). It shapes how students approach learning, defines what is valued and legitimized, and thus should be addressed alongside the corresponding teaching practices (Castillo-Montoya & Madriaga, 2024; Pryor & Crossouard, 2008).

⁷ See Hoyos (2023) and Shahjahan et al. (2022).

⁸ See Davis et al. (2018), Naseem (2024), Stein et al., (2021) and Regmi (2025).

Furthermore, while several studies identify overlapping concerns (e.g. lack of institutional support or the coloniality of epistemology), each contribution also highlights distinct challenges and perspectives. This is partly due to many papers focusing on challenges related to one specific academic discipline (e.g. Kulago et al., 2021 and Kvangraven & Kesar, 2022) or geographical context (e.g. Du Plessis, 2021 and Garcia & Shirley, 2012), or examining one particular group of barriers in the first place (e.g. the risk of superficial or performative decolonization by Moosavi, 2020 and Lau & Mendes, 2024). Such studies are extremely valuable, since context- and discipline-specific approaches to decolonization are crucial. However, if brought together, these divergent insights could offer a more comprehensive and nuanced understanding of the different tensions and challenges associated with implementing decolonial pedagogy in western, higher education.

Therefore, this research aims to examine such diverse observations in a single, focused review, by answering the following research question: What are the varying tensions and barriers that arise when implementing strategies to decolonize the pedagogy of higher education in western universities? In order to answer this question, I will first explore the foundational subquestion: Which strategies to decolonize the pedagogy of higher education on western universities have been suggested in the literature, including exemplary cases of implementation? By first reviewing these strategies, I aim to provide sufficient context for the following analysis of the corresponding implementation challenges, which pays particular attention to how tensions and barriers manifest in the context of teaching and assessment practices. The outcomes of this study can inform future research in the field, and guide efforts of activists, educators and/or other

⁹ It is noteworthy that some of the tensions and barriers evident in the literature are initially presented in the context of decolonizing higher education in general, or even the curriculum or institutional structures in particular, rather than the pedagogy. However, those included in this paper have either similar, or distinct but relevant implications for decolonial teaching and assessment methods.

university staff in their efforts of decolonizing pedagogy in higher education. By examining the challenges and opportunities in addressing global structures of coloniality through localized pedagogical practices, this research illuminates how systemic change can begin in everyday-spaces.

First, the next chapter will provide a detailed description of my research method, including a reflection on my positionality as a researcher. This is followed by the findings of my two-part narrative review. My discussion reflects on these findings, highlighting key contradictions and offering potential pathways for future decolonial efforts. Finally, I address the limitations of this thesis, suggest directions for further research, and conclude by summarizing the contributions of this work.

Methodology

Narrative Literature Review

This research employs a narrative literature review, guided by an explorative scoping of the state of the arts. The latter consisted of a preliminary literature review and informal discussions with scholars in the field, and provided an understanding of the current state of research on decolonizing higher education in western universities, identifying efforts to specifically decolonize pedagogy as a highly relevant topic. Moreover, the conversations with scholars provided additional nuance and depth, helping to plan my narrative review and refine its focus in order to ensure relevant outcomes and increase academic rigor.

A narrative literature review is particularly suitable for this research, as it allows for a more flexible, critical and thematic synthesis of diverse sources (Chambers et al., 2018; Kennedy et al., 2022; Sukhera, 2022; Tynan & Bishop, 2023). It aligns with decolonial values by

challenging rigid epistemic boundaries¹⁰, resisting extractive or reductionist practices, and prioritizing contextualization of, and relational engagement with, the respective knowledge (Ibid.). In order to ensure transparency and rigor, I defined the specific thematic focus, which is explained in further detail below. My process followed the four steps for narrative reviews suggested by Gregory and Denniss (2018): "Step 1: Define Topic and Audience", "Step 2: Search and Re-Search the Literature", "Step 3: Be Critical", "Step 4: Find a Logical Structure".

The specific topics defined in step one are firstly, the different strategies of decolonizing the pedagogy of higher education in western universities, and secondly, the corresponding tensions and barriers. When talking about western universities, I am referring to universities in 'western' societies (those either located in, or with historical and cultural ties to Western Europe, including North America, Australia and New Zealand), or any other universities that employ the same knowledge system and pedagogy¹¹. My target audience are educators who seek to decolonize their teaching practice, university bodies/committees for decolonization of education, activists, and scholars doing research within the field.

The second step constitutes my actual process of reviewing the literature, which was guided by several themes identified in the explorative scoping. In the first part, I focused on decolonial teaching and assessment strategies related to the following themes: critical consciousness and critical thinking, transformative education, teacher-student relationships and hierarchies, active learning processes, collaborative or reciprocal knowledge production, student independence and agency, the integration and acknowledgment of emotions, contextualization, art-based/creative methods, nature and place-based education, Indigenous or traditional

¹⁰ E.g. predetermined and fixed inclusion and exclusion criteria of traditional methods like systematic or scoping reviews.

¹¹ Even in the Global South, most universities have adopted the knowledge system of the north, shaping 'western' higher education, which is perceived as the highest standard due to internalized biases and structural colonial legacies (Santos, 2018, Introduction).

pedagogy, epistemic disobedience and refusal, resistance to or critical engagement with the status quo, reflexivity, positionality, transparency, and accountability.

For the second part of the review, relevant themes were: resistance of students (e.g. anxieties about grades and discomfort with confronting their own positionality), practical challenges (including feasibility in larger classrooms etc.), differences across disciplines (e.g. social versus natural sciences), neoliberal pressures (such as university rankings, funding, hiring practices and expectations on scholars resulting in a lack of time and resources for decolonial efforts), the risk of tokenism/box ticking (e.g. through top-bottom policies without intentionality of individual educators), the risk of extractivism/need for context specific approaches, and the overall need for underlying ethics and reflexivity.

Step three entails my analysis of the narrative review findings and the following discussion below. To increase academic rigor, I used a research diary for documenting "road-markers" within my research "path", as suggested by Gregory and Denniss (2018, p. 896), which helped to trace the developments of my review process while conducting my analysis and interpreting the results. In step four, I structured my findings by grouping them into thematic sections to enhance clarity and allow for a deeper understanding.

Critical Reflections on My Positionality as a Researcher

Before presenting my findings, it is important to consider ethical implications specific to my particular method and topic. Therefore, in this section I acknowledge and critically reflect on my positionality in relation to this work. This is a crucial step when engaging with research on decolonization, which suggests that knowledge production is never neutral, and thus calls for reflexivity and contextualization. The social locations I will recount here both consciously and unconsciously influence my research process. Given that academia itself is built on historical

colonialism and its legacies, recognizing my own position in this structure allows for a better understanding of how my social identity shapes my assumptions and informs the questions I ask, the sources I consult, and the conclusions I draw.¹²

I am a white, western, cis-gendered, able-bodied and heterosexual woman, who was born and raised in Bremen, a city in the north of Germany. I grew up in an upper-middle class family, with both my parents having a university degree and stable incomes throughout my life. While I am not religious per se, I am culturally christian and have my own faith, and I am still learning what that means for me. My understanding of my German identity is vague, and shaped by attempts of German society to take responsibility for our country's recent history of the Holocaust and the first and second World War. This does not only involve education and reparations, but also navigating collective feelings of guilt – ideally resulting in accountability – and individual feelings of shame, which in turn can lead to avoidance or denial as a form of protecting one's self image. In my social circles, a strong, German national identity has been largely associated with the latter. Additionally, Germany has a history of colonialism in African Countries and Pacific Islands, which is often forgotten alongside the Holocaust and remains largely unaddressed, with its legacies still influencing society today (Bundesministerium für Wirtschaftliche Zusammenarbeit und Entwicklung, 2023). Lastly, over the past three years I have been following my Bachelor degree 'Global Responsibility and Leadership' at the University of Groningen, in the Netherlands, which means that I am writing within a western university in the Global North.

These identities, and likely more that I am not aware of, intersect and result in a position of immense privilege. In terms of my research, this means that I have not experienced the effects

¹² The following reflections are inspired by Bianca C. Williams' (2016) "introductory monologue" approach in "Radical Honesty: Truth-telling as pedagogy for working through shame in academic spaces" (p. 71).

of systematic oppression and colonization that many marginalized communities have. Therefore, some of the complexities within the topic of decolonization may not be immediately visible to me. Consequently, my role is to listen to, and amplify marginalized voices, which in itself is a form of privilege, and should not be necessary in an equitable and just academic landscape. Furthermore, I am acutely aware of the contradictions in attempting to decolonize my own work, while being subject to the academic expectations and norms of my university¹³, which I am reinforcing through my engagement. Despite my commitment to a critical approach, I must recognize that my perspective remains limited, as I am strongly influenced by the colonial structures I aim to challenge. This acknowledgement is not meant to 'excuse' the biases I may bring to this topic, or relieve me of my responsibility to actively reflect on and minimize the potential misrepresentation and harm they can result in, but rather seeks to emphasize the limitations of this process.

Lastly, my research topic calls for a discussion of Tuck's and Yang's (2021) contribution in "Decolonization is not a Metaphor". They argue that decolonization is a material process that goes beyond symbolic gestures or diversification, and ultimately aims to dismantle settler colonialism and return indigenous land and life. This warns of the tendency to metaphorize decolonization instead of demanding structural change. In response, Bhambra et al. (2018) offer a valuable reflection:

"Whereas dispossession might be the 'truth' of colonialism, it is not its entirety. Taking colonialism as a global project as the starting point, it becomes difficult to turn away from the Western university as a key site through which colonialism – and colonial knowledge in particular – is produced, consecrated, institutionalised and naturalised." (p.

11)

¹³ E.g. objectivity, formality, writing structure and format etc.

Based on this sentiment, I have previously argued that "addressing the ways in which the white, western university perpetuates epistemic injustice and inhibits wider efforts of decolonization and liberation is ultimately also a contribution to the fight against settler colonialism" (Wichert, 2024b, p. 2). Implementing decolonial pedagogy in western universities aims to transform students into 'agents of change' that "model and inspire broader social transformation including material projects of decolonization" (Inczauskis, 2023). While I recognize the risk of engaging in academic discourse that distracts from substantive material change, this thesis aims to counteract that by identifying challenges for implementing such pedagogies, and offering insights to support wider transformation. With these reflections in mind, I will now present the findings of my literature review.

Literature Review – Part 1: Current Decolonial Strategies

In order to examine the tensions and barriers of decolonizing the pedagogy of western higher education, we first need to gain an overview of the corresponding strategies. Therefore, this section will identify the different decolonial teaching and assessment practices that have been theorized and suggested in the literature, such as exemplary cases of implementation. While these often intersect, combining different components like relationality, reflexivity, and community engagement, they can roughly be grouped into four different categories based on their specific aims and targets within the broader context of decolonizing pedagogy: 1) relational pedagogies and student agency, 2) place-based and community-centered Learning, 3) reflexivity and critical consciousness, and 4) creative and arts-based pedagogies.

1) Relational Pedagogies and Student Agency

Relational pedagogies are deeply rooted in Freirean principles, emphasizing mutual exchange, critical consciousness, and co-creation of knowledge. The active rejection of the "banking model" is central to this approach, with teachers refusing to act as experts who pass down information to passive students. Instead, they are facilitators of a respectful, reciprocal learning process in which students play an active role as knowledge producers and assume responsibility for their learning, enhancing independent thinking and critical reflection (Parker et al., 2017; Inczauskis, 2023). This disrupts traditional hierarchies, redistributes power dynamics, and fosters democratic engagement, highlighting student agency and creating an inclusive and collaborative classroom that integrates diverse knowledge systems (Ibid.).

Practical strategies include (student-led) talking circles and discussion rounds (Louie et al., 2017; Millner, 2023; Parker et al., 2017), emotional and spiritual dialogue (Ali et al., 2019), storytelling (Cheang & Suterwalla, 2020; Mabingo, 2015), and classroom designs that include all participants as legitimate knowledge producers and create a safe space for engagement (Autar, 2017). One notable concept is "hospitality dynamics", which reimagines the conventional host-guest relationship in the classroom, calling for humility and openness of educators (Lau & Mendes, 2024). The use of approaches like "Collaborative Online International Learning" (COIL) and community engagement projects further promote relational values by connecting students across countries and connecting academic work to real-life social issues (Castro Romero & Capella Palacios, 2020; Inczauskis, 2023). This allows students to view themselves as part of the global community in a shared struggle for justice.

Closely tied to relational approaches are strategies that enhance student agency through curriculum co-creation. In order to fully overcome the "banking model", students need to be active participants, not only during class discussions, but also in shaping the various elements of teaching and assessment. For instance, strategies include participatory syllabus design, a (partially) open selection of readings, and group assignments that are aimed at the common good (Inczauskis, 2023).

As mentioned above, decolonial pedagogy also includes assessment methods, which are increasingly understood as a crucial tool for transformation. Relational and agency affirming practices include peer-, or self-assessment and student collaboration in rubric design (Eizadirad, 2019). Talking circles and relational dialogues can also serve as assessment formats, as they emphasize active participation, shared accountability and socio-political engagement (Louie et al., 2017; Shahjahan et al., 2022).

While these strategies largely rely on relationship-building within the classroom, the following section explores pedagogies that extend this approach to the broader local community and students' physical environments. Although such place-based and community-centered practices can be seen as a form of relational pedagogy, it is worth exploring the ways in which they connect knowledge production to local contexts.

2) Place-Based and Community-Centered Learning

A dominant theme in decolonial pedagogy literature is the shift away from abstract and decontextualized learning, with authors emphasizing the significance of 'place' and 'community' as foundational aspects of knowledge production. Such place-based and community-centered pedagogies challenge the "banking model's" assumptions of universality, and expert-dominated, unilateral knowledge transmission. Instead, they emphasize context, enhance relational accountability, acknowledge different ways of knowing and disrupt the colonial separation of academic knowledge from everyday life (Dache et al., 2021; Pipe &

Stephens, 2023; Sabati et al., 2021; Gahman & Legault, 2019; Verlinghieri & Middleton, 2020). This is achieved by recognizing the importance of physical space and cultural geography, relocating learning from abstract, institutional spaces to land, local communities and histories (Ibid.).

A foundational principle of decolonizing pedagogy is the recognition and integration of non-Western knowledge systems¹⁴. By situating knowledge production within community spaces and on the land itself, place-based and community-centered approaches seek to center Indigenous and other marginalized epistemologies, where land and community are crucial for being and knowing (Louie et al., 2017; Guzmán-Valenzuela, 2021; de Carvalho & Flórez-Flórez, 2014). For example, land-based pedagogy, most commonly used in Australia, New Zealand and Canada, employs methods like storytelling, smudging¹⁵ and land acknowledgments in order to explore indigenous relationships with the land and reframe nature as a relational teacher rather than a neutral resource (Louie et al., 2017; Le Grange, 2016).

Community-based learning further expands on this by positioning students as co-learners with local community members, facilitating reciprocal engagement and promoting critical reflection (de Carvalho et al., 2016; Shahjahan et al., 2022). Some courses have used intercultural exchanges and co-taught modules with non-academic knowledge holders (Castro Romero & Capella Palacios, 2020; de Carvalho et al., 2016). Intercultural universities in Latin America have embedded indigenous knowledge systems and indigenous leadership in their pedagogy, supported by national legislation (Cortés, 2017; Guzmán-Valenzuela, 2021). For instance, the Latin American "Meeting of Knowledges" project invites community knowledge

¹⁴ Not to be confused with the mere inclusion of non-western knowledge in the curriculum, which is crucial but not sufficient by itself.

¹⁵ Smudging is a ceremonial, North-American Indigenous practice that involves burning sacred herbs to cleanse a space, person, or object, and ask for spiritual guidance (Louie et al., 2017).

holders from Indigenous, Afro-Brazilian, and African diasporic backgrounds to lead workshops and co-teach university courses, regardless of conventional academic qualifications (de Carvalho & Flórez-Flórez, 2014). The so-called "Calle" methodology from the U.S. introduces students to the political and spiritual importance of space in marginalized communities, encourages sensory engagement and fosters critical historical awareness (Dache et al., 2021). Similarly, the "Two-Eyed Seeing" initiative in Canadian engineering programs promotes epistemological pluralism by teaching students to engage with both Indigenous and western ways of knowing simultaneously (Seniuk Cicek et al., 2021). Instead of adapting Indigenous knowledge to fit into western frameworks, this strategy preserves both epistemologies and creates mutual engagement.

Corresponding assessment methods recognize lived experience, community knowledge, and students as knowledge producers. This can be achieved through participatory and reflective practices. Shahjahan et al (2022) propose to evaluate students' socio-political engagement and community connections, with learning being demonstrated through collaboration with local stakeholders. critical reflections on positionality, and ethical responsibility in community-research.

These contextually grounded approaches enhance students' understanding of the politics of knowledge production. For example, Sabati et al. (2021) describes how student involvement in place-based ethnographic work and co-production of knowledge with local communities encourages critical reflections on their positionality, the constructed nature of scientific paradigms and the resulting responsibilities when engaging with marginalized knowledge. This kind of reflexivity emerges as a distinct theme across decolonial pedagogy literature, which I will further explore in the following.

¹⁶ Spanish for 'street'.

3) Reflexivity and Critical Consciousness

In line with Freire's critique of the "banking model", reflexivity-centered pedagogies reject the idea of students as passive recipients of neutral, objective information. Instead, they invite students to examine how power, privilege and coloniality shape knowledge production, and reflect on their own positions within it. This involves interrogating the personal and collective positionalities of both students and teachers in regard to historical and contemporary colonial structures, recognizing complicity, and shifting towards responsibility (Hayes et al., 2021; Shahjahan et al., 2022). Such practices target the deeply internalized assumptions of traditional western education by fostering critical consciousness and encouraging ethical, political and emotional engagement with ongoing structures of domination.

While several of the teaching strategies mentioned above are useful tools in this context, there are additional methods, including assignments like reflective or standpoint essays, growth-journals and autoethnographies, all of which foster intellectual and emotional decolonization by linking personal histories to broader social structures¹⁷ (Adefarakan, 2018; Phillips & Archer-Lean, 2019; Ralph et al., 2023; Godsell et al., 2024; Wernicke, 2021). different Meanwhile, variations of reflective practices are shaped by regional contexts: Scholars in Australia and Canada mainly focus on relational reflexivity tied to Indigenous communities, while those in Europe and the U.S. often draw on critical whiteness studies and power analysis to disrupt dominant identities (Davis, 2010; Nakata et al., 2012; Shahjahan et al., 2022).

Building on reflexivity, some scholars advocate for "affective and embodied pedagogies of refusal" (Zembylas, 2021). As suggested by Zembylas (2021), refusal is not simply resistance, but an affirmative pedagogical practice that cultivates emotional disinvestment from colonial

¹⁷ In one example, history students wrote reflective essays on the meaning of freedom, connecting historical events to personal and contemporary understandings of the concept (Godsell et al., 2024). This encouraged intellectual self-reflection and brought up themes like the tension between collective and individual liberation.

norms and desires, and commits to alternative futures. Teachers are encouraged to facilitate emotional confrontation with discomfort, vulnerability, solidarity and hope as modes of learning, emphasizing anti-complicity and deep ethical engagement (Hayes et al., 2021; Zembylas, 2021).

4) Creative and Arts-Based Pedagogies

While this final category shares key goals with the previous sections, such as critical reflexivity, contextualizing knowledge, and validating marginalized epistemologies, it constitutes a distinct set of creative, expressive and embodied practices. These arts-based pedagogies respond to the dehumanization of the "banking model" by centering emotions, imagination and embodied experience in the learning process. This further challenges the emphasis on textual, rational, and individualistic forms of learning. Rather than treating students as passive recipients, they rely on their active participation by drawing on creativity and lived experiences as valid tools for knowledge production. Especially students of historically marginalized groups can profit from using creative and culturally diverse ways to demonstrate insights that may not be easily conveyed through conventional academic mediums (Freeborn, 2024; Hoyos, 2023).

The corresponding practices include diverse creative outputs like dance, theatre, poetry and visual art (Freeborn, 2024; Hoyos, 2023; Mabingo, 2015). For example, tools like Photovoice, drawings or community artifacts allow students to reframe social issues through their own lived experience or involve narratives that disrupt dominant representations and center marginalized groups (Carolissen et al., 2017; Kessi, 2017). Theatre-based education has been applied in both teacher education and community contexts, and can disrupt academic norms and center marginalized voices (Dénommé-Welch & Montero, 2014). Such pedagogies increase accessibility, emotional engagement and emphasize the legitimacy of unconventional, non-verbal forms of knowledge (Freeborn, 2024).

Assessment methods within these pedagogies are committed to flexibility, creativity, and student voices. Students may be asked to submit plays, letters or visual art-works (as mentioned above) instead of traditional essays (Carolissen et al., 2017; Godsell et al., 2024; Kessi, 2017). Godsell et al., (2024) provides a particularly compelling example, where history students had to create a play based on a specific historical moment. Through this performative project, students explored and presented historical events in ways that connected their intellectual understanding with emotional engagement, and increased relatability and social relevance. Such assignments lead to deeper learning, and foster collaboration, empathy, and personal investment in the topic at hand.

Together, these four categories of decolonial teaching and assessment strategies provide a useful toolkit for educators seeking to decolonize pedagogy in meaningful and context sensitive ways. They also highlight that decolonization is not a one-size-fits-all project, but rather a diverse and evolving combination of struggles shaped by geography, discipline and social identities. Nevertheless, their implementation is often met with diverse barriers, and creates complex tensions. In order to achieve a transformation of higher education pedagogy, we need to gain a better understanding of these real-life challenges, rather than focus on perfecting decolonial pedagogy in theory. Therefore, in the second part of my literature review, I identify the different challenges, tensions and barriers present within the literature, while using the pedagogical practices as a reference point.

Literature Review - Part 2: Challenges, Tensions, and Barriers

The majority of the challenges, tensions, and barriers mentioned in the literature can all be traced back to persisting coloniality at different levels. Colonial legacies present in todays' structures, values, and hierarchies continue to shape higher education and actively complicate the

implementation of pedagogical strategies as described above. While the resulting challenges are deeply interconnected, they can be grouped into five broad categories: 1) the coloniality of academic institutions, 2) the coloniality of knowledge, 3) the emotional burden of decolonial work, 4) the lack of diversity in faculty and student bodies and 5) neoliberal pressures that shape educational priorities.

1) The Coloniality of Academic Institutions

Western Universities, despite their evolving missions, are fundamentally shaped by their colonial past, in which they served as powerful spaces for the reproduction of colonial knowledge systems (Strout & Kerfoot, 2021). There is a striking consensus across the literature that this deeply embedded coloniality is not merely a legacy of the past, but still defines academic institutions today, resulting in structural and ideological resistance to decolonial transformation. This resistance manifests in different ways, which lead to various complexities and challenges for decolonizing higher education pedagogy.

As Dei (2016) suggests, decolonizing higher education requires fundamental changes to a system that is inherently designed to resist such shifts. Therefore, decolonial initiatives are constantly at odds with the colonial underpinnings of the system they occur in ¹⁸(Rasool & Hars-Smith, 2021 as cited in Hoyos, 2023). For example, the languages dominating academia are full of colonial histories, developed to selectively translate and appropriate Indigenous knowledges while reaffirming eurocentric worldviews (Strout & Kerfoot, 2021). Moreover, universities are not simply passive products of modernity that carry colonial legacies, but

¹⁸ Stein et al. (2021) effectively illustrate this paradox by referring to the seemingly impossible task of dismantling "the house modernity built" (p. 4).

actively sustain colonial structures through institutional cultures and policies, academic traditions, disciplinary norms, and infrastructure (Davis et al., 2018; Shahjahan et al., 2022).

That being said, this coloniality is perpetuated differently across geographical contexts. For example, Prah (2018) observes that educational systems in most African postcolonial societies continue to reproduce eurocentric content, practices, and norms. He points out that African middle classes and elites are deeply influenced by colonial empires, and often imagine themselves in the roles of their former masters. Consequently, academics seek external validation from western institutions. Such internalization of colonial thought has serious psychological implications and leads to feelings of cultural inferiority and disconnection from Indigenous knowledge systems (Prah, 2018). Unfortunately, this phenomenon is common among post-colonial societies. The respective universities remain dependent on western academic standards for legitimacy¹⁹ and suffer from underdeveloped local infrastructures for knowledge production (Shahjahan et al., 2022). This perpetuates intellectual colonialism and inhibits the integration of Indigenous ways of knowing into pedagogical practices.

Regardless of the geographical context, contemporary universities usually share the same institutional design that complicates efforts of decolonization. Inczauskis (2023) demonstrates this through the example of student co-created syllabi, which tend to be undermined by departmental or state-imposed requirements like the mandatory inclusion of western canonical texts²⁰. These requirements reflect an embedded adherence to eurocentric epistemologies, and create a tension between institutional demands and personal commitments to change, hindering pedagogical experimentation.

¹⁹ E.g. rankings, accreditations, publication metrics etc.

²⁰ A common example is the mandatory inclusion of Plato's Republic in introductory philosophy (Pipe & Stephens, 2023).

The insistence on complying with such formal requirements represents a broader lack of institutional commitment. Structural barriers, including rigid policies and lack of leadership support, are combined with institutional inertia and bureaucratic resistance (Shahjahan et al., 2022; Chaussée et al., 2022). Within such constraints only individual acts of decolonization are feasible, while broader transformation remains elusive (Leenen-Young et al., 2021). As a result, actual attempts of decolonization are often superficial, with non-western content and methods being added into existing frameworks without addressing the underlying logic and values (Davis et al., 2018).

Meanwhile, decolonial work that genuinely seeks to disrupt the system is rendered subversive and risky. Departments and scholars who engage in critical, anti-colonial inquiry are often marginalized and threatened, and frequently face professional repercussions, including negative student evaluations, tenure threats, and stalled career advancement (Davis et al., 2018; Dei, 2016; Opini & Neeganagwedgin, 2020). Thus, educators' attempts to transform their pedagogy is not only discouraged, but comes at a personal cost.

These challenges highlight the complexities of attempting to transform western universities from within. Some scholars question whether institutions that are rooted in colonial foundations can ever be fully delinked from coloniality, or whether decolonization demands building something completely new (Menon et al., 2021). Stein et al. (2022) further explore this by describing competing strategies: 1) radically replacing the system, 2) 'hacking' it to gradually create alternative spaces, or 3) 'hospicing' it, acknowledging its decline while simultaneously nurturing new possibilities. Nevertheless, each of these approaches grapples with the difficulty of disrupting embedded colonial frameworks without being able to draw on clear alternatives.

2) The Coloniality of Knowledge

In addition to institutional resistance, the enduring colonial assumptions embedded in dominant conceptions of knowledge present a core barrier to decolonizing pedagogy. Western epistemologies continue to shape not only what is taught, but how knowledge is defined, evaluated and legitimized. This influences institutional cultures, academic disciplines, and individual actors, complicating decolonial efforts.

Central to this issue is the privileging of western scientific rationalism and eurocentric paradigms, which are generally framed as objective and universal (Santos, 2018, p. 6).21 This marginalizes other forms of knowledge, especially those grounded in oral traditions, embodied experiences, and relational worldviews (Dei, 2016; Regmi, 2015). Lau and Mendes (2024) describe this process as characterized by 'epistemologies of ignorance'22, a concept first introduced by Charles Mills (1997), referring to the systematic disregard of marginalized knowledges and experiences in order to protect unjust power structures and privileges.

These dynamics, though pervasive, manifest differently across disciplinary contexts. Fields like science, technology, engineering, mathematics (STEM), and economics are commonly perceived as neutral and evidence-based (Hlatshwayo et al., 2022; Kulago et al., 2021; Kvangraven & Kesar, 2022; Nicol et al., 2020), while humanities are regarded as inherently more subjective and allow for more critical engagement (Rashed & Suarez, 2024, Chapter 11). However, they often function as 'protected spaces' where educators are rarely

²¹ I have explored the implications of such frameworks in my previous essay, by exploring Boaventura de Sousa Santos' concept of the 'abyssal line': "[The abyssal line] separates societies in the global north from the colonized, epistemologies of the north from those of the South, and is meant to demonstrate the dichotomy between them (Santos, 2018, pp. 3). People in western societies are on the 'right' side of this line, are considered credible knowers and can participate in knowledge production. The colonized on the other hand, are on the 'wrong' side and cannot participate in knowledge production, as they are not only denied credibility, but even humanity." (Wichert, 2024b) ²² This concept was first introduced by Charles Mills (1997, Chapter 1, pp. 18-19). See Wichert (2024b, pp. 4-5) for

a more detailed explanation in the context of decolonizing the University.

required to examine their positionality or teaching frameworks (Ibid.). Therefore, most disciplines implicitly reinforce colonial standards, instead of challenging them.

Meanwhile, the dominant epistemology legitimizes the "banking model" itself. With objectivity, neutrality, and evidence-based information being held as the standard, knowledge is seen as the domain of formally trained experts (Santos, 2018, Introduction). From early childhood onwards, students are conditioned to absorb information from teachers and authority figures, rather than develop their own critical voice (Lau & Mendes, 2024). Without conscious reflection on who benefits from this framework, individuals continue to reproduce it uncritically, often without realizing the ideological impact (Davis et al., 2018; Garcia & Shirley, 2012).

As a result, students expect traditional education models (Blanche et al., 2021; Carolissen et al., 2017; Hoyos, 2023). Those unfamiliar with participatory, decolonial methods may initially struggle to accept the increased responsibility and associated uncertainty, and interpret it as a lack of structure or academic seriousness (Inczauskis, 2023). Particularly when introduced to relational or Indigenous knowledge systems, some students express skepticism or even active resistance (Ibid.). They may fear that non-western approaches could diminish the perceived value of their degrees and jeopardize their career prospects²³, especially in traditionally more rigorous disciplines (Shahjahan et al., 2022).

Moreover, educators themselves often have internalized western epistemic norms. Without institutional support or training, many retain the pedagogy they were exposed to, both professionally and throughout their own education (Hoyos, 2023; Opini & Neeganagwedgin, 2020). If they do engage in decolonization efforts, these are often superficial, and limited to diversified syllabi without adjusting pedagogical practices (Du Plessis, 2021). Moreover,

²³ This fear carries particular weight for students from the Global South, given that they are already disadvantaged within the global system and are often required to 'proof' their adherence to western academic standards (Shahjahan, 2022).

lecturers are frequently unaware of the transformative potential of decolonial approaches, and avoid experimenting with alternative modes of teaching (Ibid.). Even those open to change may feel unequipped to translate decolonial theory into their teaching practice (Hoyos, 2023; Rashed & Suarez, 2024). This is not simply a personal limitation, but a broader structural issue, with universities failing to provide adequate training and collaborative spaces to support educators in this work (Dei, 2016; Shahjahan et al., 2022).

Such challenges are not exclusive to the Global North, as western epistemic frameworks have also been internalized in postcolonial settings (Regmi, 2025). Particularly in African education systems, this 'epistemic colonization' is further enhanced by the persistent dominance of colonial languages as the primary medium of instruction. As Prah (2018) argues, such marginalization of Indigenous African languages reinforces the epistemic norms embedded in colonial languages, and disconnects students from their cultural and epistemic roots²⁴. The latter inhibits the kinds of deep, critical engagement that decolonial pedagogy requires.

Overall, the coloniality of knowledge operates as a central mechanism which poses various challenges for the decolonization of higher education pedagogy. It dictates who is recognized as a credible knower, what is considered legitimate knowledge, and how it should be taught and assessed. Through these processes, the decolonial teaching and assessment practices described above are rendered inferior and inappropriate within dominant academic frameworks.

3) Emotional Load

When pursued with sincerity, decolonizing pedagogy is not only an intellectual process, but also a personal and emotional one, requiring more than theoretical understanding. It demands

²⁴ Teaching and learning in one's native language can facilitate a more relational and experiential engagement with knowledge, allowing students to draw on personal histories, community-based understandings, and culturally grounded ways of knowing (Prah, 2018). However, Indigenous African languages are often excluded due to their lack of formal academic infrastructure (Ibid.).

confronting internalized assumptions, and one's embeddedness in colonial structures. Even among individuals who are open to engage in decolonial work, this process involves emotional labor, discomfort, and vulnerability, and can be deeply unsettling.

Scholars like Inczauskis (2023) or Opini and Neeganagwedgin (2020) notes that engaging with the legacies of colonialism evokes feelings of sadness and anger, while Hayes et al., (2021) describe how pedagogies designed to expose the 'dark side of modernity' often provoke discomfort, anxiety, and resistance. Additionally, Rashed and Suarez (2024) observe that such conversations can be emotionally charged minefields, which are often met with silence and defensiveness, particularly when exploring topics like race, privilege and systemic oppression. When individuals are able to move beyond this initial defensiveness and engage in genuine self-reflection, this often reveals internalized colonial thought (Garcia and Shirley, 2012). This results in moments of tension, shame, and even disillusionment as they confront the gap between their intentions and their unexamined biases (Ibid.).

However, this emotional weight is not equally distributed, and can look differently among diverse social identities. For Indigenous or non-western educators and students, it can be profoundly disheartening to realize how colonial knowledge systems have shaped their own identities and beliefs (Garcia and Shirley, 2012). Reflecting on positionality can be retraumatizing for marginalized students, as it involves revisiting historical and ongoing experiences of oppression (Davis et al., 2018; Kulago & Wapeemukwa, 2023; Gill & Uppal, 2020). If these are not meaningfully acknowledged or supported in the classroom, it can lead to disidentification (Ibid.). Moreover, Indigenous and racialized educators are often expected to lead decolonial work, while simultaneously having to navigate their own histories of trauma

within institutions shaped by colonial expectations and norms (Davis et al., 2018; Kulago & Wapeemukwa, 2023).

In contrast, for white individuals, engaging in decolonial work involves confronting uncomfortable truths about whiteness, privilege and complicity, while also grappling with white fragility (Davis et al., 2018; Opini & Neeganagwedgin, 2020). Allen and Girei (2024) describe this process as one of "reflexive discomfort", in which educators and students must critically examine how race and power shape their positionality and their role in perpetuating epistemic hegemony. Especially in white settler contexts, dominant group positionality complicates meaningful decolonial work: Tensions emerge between serving Indigenous students' needs and maintaining dominant expectations within the classroom (Shahjahan et al., 2022; Gill & Uppal, 2020).

This emotional intensity of decolonial work complicates its implementation. With colonial epistemologies emphasizing rationality, objectivity, and emotional detachment, emotions are frequently viewed as unscientific or unprofessional (Barnett-Naghshineh & Pattathu, 2021). Moreover, facilitating emotional engagement requires time, vulnerability, and pedagogical flexibility and innovation, all of which clashes with the dominant norms and institutional structures of higher education²⁵. Therefore, educators and students are expected to maintain a certain 'distance' from the content at hand.

As a result, the toll on educators is both personal and professional: Davis et al. (2018) highlight the strong feelings of fear, frustration, and emotional exhaustion that are associated with pushing against embedded norms and institutional resistance. Educators frequently face backlash from students, colleagues, or institutional leadership when emotions surface in class, risking professional consequences (Ibid.). Additionally, they are often unprepared to

_

²⁵ E.g. accreditation standards for degree programmes.

accommodate and adequately respond to students' emotional reactions Ibid.). It requires a delicate balance between fostering necessary discomfort while preventing students or colleagues from disengaging altogether in order to protect their self-image. Due to lacking institutional support, ²⁶ educators often pick up this extra work in their own time, without appropriate recognition or compensation (Dei, 2016; Hall et al., 2021). All this can lead to physical and mental health consequences including burnout (Kulago & Wapeemuka, 2023).

Ultimately, the emotional intensity of decolonial work is not a sign of failure or inadequacy, but a necessary part of the process. Such emotional reckoning, while painful, is essential for moving beyond performative measures and toward genuine transformation (Girei, 2024; McGuire & Murdoch, 2023). However, this cannot be the responsibility of individual, marginalized educators alone. There is a need for institutional support and collective effort across positionalities to engage with the difficult, emotional nature of decolonial work.

4) Lack of Diversity in Faculty and Student Body

Another persistent barrier to implementing decolonial pedagogy lies in the lack of diversity within faculty and student bodies across western universities. This underrepresentation is a direct consequence of systemic colonial and racist biases²⁷, ranging from exclusionary hiring practices to inequitable admissions, scholarship allocation, career advancements, academic recognition, and tenure systems that reward conformity to western academic norms rather than decolonial innovation (Davis et al., 2018; Dei, 2016; Regmi, 2025; Wapeemukwa, 2023). Even though institutions increasingly promote diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI), these initiatives

²⁶ Faculty evaluations of scholars add additional pressure, as they prioritize conventional metrics over decolonial efforts (Hall et al., 2021).

²⁷ While such biases relate to the persisting coloniality of academic institutions examined above, the resulting lack of diversity within faculty and student bodies has specific implications for implementing decolonial pedagogy, which are worth exploring in further detail.

are often largely performative and fail to address systemic power imbalances or create genuinely inclusive institutional cultures (Regmi, 2025). Educators and scholars from marginalized backgrounds are frequently placed in positions of symbolic visibility without sufficient support or meaningful influence, leading to tokenization and isolation (Davis et al., 2018; Rashed & Suarez, 2024).

Neocolonial structures of internationalization further reinforce this exclusion. Several authors argue that the predominant flow of students from the Global South to the global north reproduces the notion of the west as the intellectual center of the world (Enslin & Hedge, 2024; Stein & Silva, 2020; Silva & Pereira, 2023; Stroud & Kerfoot, 2021). They note that international partnerships often favor western institutions and paternalistic models of engagement, framing non-western contexts as deficient and in need of western knowledge and intervention. This reproduces the exclusion of scholars, educators, and students from the Global South, and limits the transformative potential of global academic collaboration.

These barriers not only shape individual futures by restricting access to elite institutions and post-graduate opportunities, but also limit the range of perspectives and lived experiences present in higher education. Without a significant number of Indigenous or non-western faculty members and students who bring first-hand experiences of marginalization, relational and experience based teaching practices often lack the dialogical depth and cultural embeddedness that is necessary for meaningful decolonial processes (Lau & Mendes, 2024). Educators may unintentionally place disproportionate emotional labor on marginalized students, or create further alienation if individuals are treated as 'spokespeople' for entire communities (Regmi, 2025).

Furthermore, the lack of diversity among faculty bodies affects their commitment to underlying ethics of decolonial pedagogy. For instance, true decolonial practice requires centering Indigenous and marginalized knowledge systems, without treating them as supplementary add-ons (Lau & Mendes, 2024; Opini & Neeganagwedgin, 2020). This demands sustained collaboration, co-creation, and power sharing with Indigenous and marginalized communities and local 'Knowledge Keepers' (Ibid.). Without such grounding, there is a serious risk of academic extractivism, with Indigenous pedagogical practices being detached from the lived experiences and historical struggles that shape them (Lau & Mendes, 2024; Hayes et al., 2021). Furthermore, having relational ties to local communities, staff members may struggle to facilitate reciprocal and respectful interactions with marginalized communities, as this requires cultural sensitivity and mutual trust (Ibid.).

In order to genuinely move toward decolonial pedagogy, universities must address the systemic biases that shape who has access to academia, who is heard within, and whose knowledge is valued. Without doing so, decolonization efforts will likely reproduce the very hierarchies they aim to dismantle, risking appropriation, tokenism and additional harm for marginalized educators and students.

5) Neoliberal Pressures

In the contemporary, neoliberal context of financial austerity, information overload, and increased competition for scarce resources, issues of social justice and inclusion struggle to gain attention (Stein & Silva, 2020). Instead, universities increasingly operate according to market logic, prioritizing competition for global rankings, quantifiable outcomes, and economic utility over transformative learning, or critical reflection (Fomunyam, 2019). Institutions, particularly in the Global South, are constrained by the need to balance internationalization pressures with a decolonial agenda (Hoyos, 2023; Knight, 2018). Thus, pedagogic experimentation is constrained

by global standards that demand conformity to narrow definitions of academic excellence (Lau & Mendes, 2024).²⁸

These neoliberal standards result in the increasing commodification of education, which is framed as an individual investment for future employment (Regmi, 2025). With universities relying more frequently on corporate funding or international student fees, decisions regarding the pedagogy are shaped by profitability and market appeal (Dei, 2016). Funding cuts to initiatives that connect universities with local communities (Hoyos, 2023) and the lack of institutional recognition for decolonial practices in accreditation or legal frameworks (Guzmán-Valenzuela, 2021), decreases their institutional viability. Decolonial pedagogical strategies cannot (and refuse to) compete for these market driven qualities, which fundamentally contradict their underlying values.

Several scholars warn that this metrics-driven, competitive strategy, often framed by universities as 'strategically important', poses a growing incentive to implement performative or tokenistic engagements with decolonization to attract students and funding (Enslin & Hedge, 2024; Shain et al., 2021). Such institutional gestures often reflect "interest convergence", where decolonization is embraced only insofar as it aligns with market incentives, rankings or reputational gain (Ibid.). Institutions adopt superficial measures to show off their progress while preserving the colonial structures in pedagogy, curriculum and their institutional culture.

Meanwhile, market imperatives also influence how decolonial efforts are measured and rewarded. Since the neoliberal climate prioritizes demonstrable and measurable outcomes, initiatives like workshops, webinars, or pedagogical experimentation often struggle to prove their

²⁸ Across different contexts, the rise of right-wing populist governments has further aggravated these pressures on higher education by freezing public investment, attacking critical and left-leaning scholarship, and reinforcing a utilitarian view in which universities strive towards economic productivity rather than social transformation (Stein & Silva, 2020).

value in the language of neoliberal assessment (Naseem, 2024). Similarly, teaching and assessment methods like collaborative grading, ungraded learning or community-based assessment are difficult to justify and implement within systems built around fairness understood in terms of uniformity and standardization (Inczauskis, 2023; Rashed & Suarez, 2024).

Another consequence of the neoliberal landscape is a chronic lack of resources for implementing meaningful decolonial pedagogy, significantly constraining its feasibility and depth. Decolonial approaches often require smaller class sizes, flexible classroom arrangements, and extended time commitments of educators, all of which is difficult to accommodate in large, resource-strained institutions (Inczauskis, 2023; McGuire & Murdoch, 2023). Resource limitations also include material infrastructure, such as the inability to rearrange classrooms or reliance on digital platforms, both of which hinder community building and alternative use of the teaching spaces (Shahjahan et al., 2022). Lastly, high teaching workloads, market-driven expectations of academic productivity, and narrow criteria for academic success reduce the time, energy, and freedom that is crucial for educators to engage in successful pedagogical innovation (Dei, 2016; Davis et al., 2018).

Overall, neoliberal pressures pose a significant barrier for the decolonization of higher education pedagogy. The neoliberal university is structurally misaligned with decolonial goals, and resists practices that are slow, relational, context-specific, and unquantifiable. Thus, there is an urgent need for a fundamental reevaluation of institutional priorities and accountability frameworks. Ultimately, it becomes clear that the barriers and tensions identified in this second part of my literature review combine to create a powerful resistance to the different strategies of decolonizing pedagogy in western higher education.

Discussion

The first part of my literature review illustrates the diversity and transformative potential of decolonial teaching and assessment strategies, from relational, place-based pedagogies to creative, reflexive and epistemologically diverse practices. Subsequently, the second part reveals that their implementation is made difficult by structural, institutional, epistemic, and emotional challenges, all of which are either directly caused by, or at least related to persisting colonial legacies. These findings are grounded in the four-step review process outlined in the methodology, which enabled both thematic breadth across the twofold review, and critical analysis in identifying patterns, tensions, and contradictions across the literature.

Overall, my review highlights one key tension: While decolonial teaching and assessment strategies offer powerful tools for transforming the pedagogy of higher education in western universities, their application and impact are often constrained by the very structures they seek to challenge. This contradiction gives rise to ongoing debates about how to advance decolonial efforts despite structural constraints. In the following section, I will discuss the implications of different pathways suggested in the literature, and explore what opportunities, however limited, might exist for transforming pedagogy from within the current system.

Contradictions in Institutionalizing Decolonial Effort

Throughout this paper, it has become clear that the momentum behind decolonizing higher education in general, and its pedagogy in particular, has been based on the activism and initiative of passionate, committed individuals. My findings highlight the disproportionately heavy burden that is currently placed on individual educators, particularly those from racialized and marginalized backgrounds. Scholars have argued that this can only be alleviated through

coordinated, university-wide efforts (Harms-Smith & Rasool, 2020; Eaton, 2024; Kulago & Wapeemukwa, 2023; Naseem, 2024). In other words, to achieve meaningful transformation, decolonial work requires robust institutional backing.

Top-down support, including concrete policies, available resources, and leadership coordination, could offer a valuable foundation (Naseem, 2024). Without it, the endurance and transformative potential of efforts to decolonize pedagogical approaches remain limited. If well designed, institutional strategies could establish clearer goals, create safer spaces for experimentation, and allow for the necessary training to equip educators with the tools to enact meaningful change (Eaton, 2024; Harms-Smith & Rasool, 2020). Additionally, institutional frameworks could potentially allow for a broader implementation and impact of decolonial work, making it less dependent on individual initiative and more ingrained in university structures.

However, institutionalization comes with significant risks. My findings emphasize that, without critical engagement, institutional efforts often remain superficial and reduce decolonization to performative and tokenistic gestures that reproduce colonial dynamics in the name of inclusion. Scholars warn that universities may adopt the language of decolonization without committing to its deeper, more disruptive implications, turning it into branding exercises, or what Dhillon (2021) calls a "currency" (Blanche et al., 2021; Hoyos, 2023; Lau & Mendes, 2024; Omodan, 2022). Marginalized knowledge systems may simply be adapted to existing institutional frameworks, or treated as 'add-ons' to dominant pedagogical practices, rather than foster a fundamental rethinking of knowledge, power, and academic rigor (Dei, 2016). This so called "add and stir" approach (Davis et al., 2018; Moosavi, 2020) not only re-centers western norms, but may potentially retraumatize individuals from marginalized communities by assigning them the responsibility for decolonial work and asking them to engage with sensitive

topics in spaces that are unprepared to respect and reciprocate these efforts (Kulago & Wapeemuka, 2023). Ultimately, institutionalization could result in a 'soft reform' that reaffirms, rather than challenges colonial epistemologies (Stein et al., 2021).

Promoting 'Communities of Practice'

These risks highlight the importance of grounding decolonization in more ethical, bottom-up approaches that are backed by genuine commitment, rather than abstract policy frameworks. Scholars emphasize the need to embraces the messiness, complexity, and inherently unsettling nature of decolonization (Allen & Video, 2024; Gopal, 2021; Hoyos, 2023; Lau & Mendes, 2024; McGuire & Murdoch, 2023; Inczauskis, 2023; Stein et al., 2021; Zembylas, 2018). They point out that genuine transformation cannot be achieved by technocratic solutions implemented through checklists or predetermined modules. Decolonial work is inherently complicated and context-specific, and should not be collapsed into one single strategy or outcome.

Instead, it should be understood as a deeply situated process of unlearning and unsettling that requires 'communities of practice', not compliance (Hoyos, 2023; Stein et al., 2021). This concept was introduced by Etienne Wenger (1998), criticizing communities of top-down compliance, where individuals implement changes because they are told to, not because they share the underlying concerns. In contrast, communities of practice in the context of decolonial pedagogy refer to a collaborative, relationship-based approach, where educators, students and staff engage in ongoing dialogue and shared learning to challenge colonial assumptions. For instance, forums or regular peer-support circles could offer places where resources, ideas, experience, or specific strategies can be exchanged. Additionally, they could provide comfort and emotional support.

Such an approach allows for the crucial preservation of decolonial ethics and underlying values. Unlike compliance based models, it involves a deep commitment to critical reflexivity, for instance through uncomfortable self-examination and the recognition of one's own complicity in systems of privilege and domination (Allen & Girei, 2024; Eaton, 2024; Zemblyas, 2018). It resists closure and avoids the temptation of implementing superficial measures and 'quick-fixes' in order to declare that decolonization has been 'achieved'. This resonates with Donna Haraway's (2016) notion of "staying with the trouble", which encourages us to remain present in the discomfort and entanglement of the process, resisting both despair and easy solutions, and engaging in situated, relational, and transformative work rather than institutional performance.

Ultimately, the idea is not only to diversify or democratize the existing system, but to radically reimagine what knowledge is, how it is shared, and who is allowed to teach and learn. That requires recognition of epistemologies rooted in place, history, and community, without extracting them for institutional gain, but engaging with them in a collaborative way that centers relational accountability and mutual transformation (Inczauskis, 2023; Hayes et al., 2021). Keeping decolonization 'hard' does not mean to make it inaccessible, but rather insists to honor its underlying ethics, and to remain self-critical and open-ended. Otherwise, we risk institutionalizing decolonization as yet another form of colonial domination, performative, professionalized and essentially meaningless.

With that being said, advocating for bottom-up, community-driven decolonial initiatives eventually forces us to acknowledge a difficult reality. The number of people who share a deep commitment to decolonial ethics and are willing to engage in its unsettling and transformative processes is limited. Ironically, this is precisely what decolonial teaching practices aim for, to

cultivate students who will eventually challenge colonial logics and carry alternative ways of knowing into other fields and their everyday lives. However, to this day, colonial frameworks remain deeply internalized across universities, both in the global north and South. Therefore, relying solely on passionate individuals or loosely organized communities of practice may not suffice to drive widespread decolonial change.

Reform vs. Revolution

In light of this contradiction, it is understandable that some voices demand more radical change, and call for a revolution of the system instead of relying on individual efforts to reform it from within. This tension brings us back to the 'reform vs. revolution' debate mentioned earlier²⁹, with Stein et al. (2022) describing three competing strategies for decolonization: radically replacing the system, 'hacking' it to gradually create alternative spaces, or 'hospicing' it (acknowledging the system's decline while simultaneously nurturing new possibilities). Based on the findings of this research, I argue that, while a combination of strategies would be ideal, transformative change from within the system may currently represent the most viable opportunity. Given the deeply embedded power structures and enduring resilience of the current academic system, hoping to overthrow it without consistent, gradual efforts from within seems unreasonable. Instead, internal change through situated, collective practices provides valuable opportunities for disrupting dominant logics.

Rather than viewing this as a compromise, perhaps we could consider it a strategy of implementing "real utopias", as introduced by Erik Olin Wright (2011). Instead of choosing between reform or revolution, Wright suggests a different approach, which I explored in a previous essay:

²⁹ See "The Coloniality of Academic Institutions" above.

"Implementing grassroot, practical alternatives (...) that can exist within [the current system] (...), helps to break the perceived inevitability of the current system and make [alternative] futures more imaginable and thus achievable." (Wichert, 2024a, p. 10)

From this perspective, the most powerful action we can take is to invest in building and nurturing accessible spaces, however small or fragile, that embody decolonization in practice. Such examples do not simply advocate for change, but actively demonstrate it, to 'show, rather than tell'. This can confront individuals with their internalized coloniality and invite them to join the dialogue around decolonization.

Resistance will remain part of the process. Instead of avoiding it, we should ask how to engage with it constructively. How can we meet both ourselves and others in their resistance, hesitation, questions, and ongoing attachments to colonial logics. While the 'communities of practice' mentioned above offer a valuable approach, it is important that these spaces not only mobilize those already committed to decolonial work, but remain open especially to those still struggling with their own internalized coloniality. Consequently, impactful 'communities of practice' also require safe spaces of care and critique, where grief, doubt, failure, and learning can be shared. This involves balancing the protection of vulnerable groups while simultaneously remaining compassionate to those earnestly trying to unlearn harmful patterns. As Haraway reminds us, staying with the trouble requires "oddkin", namely unexpected alliances that hold space for discomfort, contradiction, and mutual growth. From there onward, we should encourage each other to stay engaged, to be disruptive when necessary, to protect those who are vulnerable, and use privileges we hold to open doors rather than close them.

Limitations and Directions for Future Research

This research is subject to several limitations. Firstly, my access to academic sources was partially restricted. Some relevant articles and case studies, particularly those published in local or regional journals, were not available through my university's library system, and otherwise inaccessible due to paywalls. Additionally, many contributions in the field of decolonization are written in languages other than English, and at times are intentionally not provided in a translated version, as a form of resisting linguistic colonization. As a result, the literature I reviewed is likely biased toward more globally visible, English-language scholarship, and potentially overlooks important local insights and experiences. Similarly, the literature available through my university's library reflects a geographic bias, with the majority of the reviewed studies being situated in North America, Europe, Latin America and parts of Africa. Perspectives from other regions like Asia, the Middle East, and small Island States are underrepresented.

Secondly, the formal expectations and conventions of a bachelor thesis, including time and word count constraints, combined with the scope and complexity of the topic required a selective focus. Therefore, this study was limited to pedagogical aspects of decolonizing higher education primarily within the context of universities. However, other types of higher education institutions, such as institutes of technology or vocational colleges, could present distinct challenges and opportunities for decolonial pedagogical practices that are worth exploring in further research. Similarly, this study did not address the foundational role of primary and secondary education, which presumably apply the same colonial logics in their pedagogy and thus already contribute to the internalization of colonial narratives and hierarchies. Future research should explore to what extent decolonial pedagogies can be implemented in those earlier stages of education, and how this can support decolonial transformation across the entire

education system. Moreover, while this study briefly touches on disciplinary differences, it should be examined in more detail how the challenges and possibilities of decolonial pedagogy vary across academic fields, as their differences likely shape both implementation and resistance.

Furthermore, many of the barriers identified in the literature apply more broadly to efforts of decolonizing higher education in general (e.g. institutional inertia and persisting epistemic coloniality). Although I also identified challenges unique to the implementation of decolonial pedagogy (e.g. the emotional burden on non-western educators), there is still a need for more targeted empirical research. This may include qualitative work with educators and students, such as participatory research on community-based initiatives and case studies of experimental pedagogical projects. These types of studies could deepen our understanding of how decolonial practices are enacted and experienced by educators, students and local community members. Moreover, they could account for the gender-blindness of this research, by investigating how tensions and resistance manifests across different gender identities.

Another relevant area for future research relates to the implications of artificial intelligence (AI) for higher education. With AI increasingly automating cognitive and instructional tasks, we are confronted with fundamental questions about what aspects of our current education are truly irreplaceable. This shift could, unexpectedly, offer an incentive to center decolonial values like lived experience, relationality, emotional intelligence and ethical responsibility, which arguably cannot be replicated by AI-based tools. Future studies should investigate how AI could unintentionally reinforce or challenge colonial frameworks in education, and how decolonial pedagogy could position itself within these developments.

In summary, while this thesis provides a broad overview of existing strategies and challenges related to decolonizing pedagogy in higher education, it also highlights the need for

more situated, participatory, and intersectional research including diverse institutions, regions, and voices, that pays closer attention to the lived realities of teachers and students who navigate decolonial pedagogical transformation.

Conclusion

While there is a growing body of literature that explores different strategies aimed at decolonizing western higher education pedagogy, their implementation and transformative potential is often constrained by significant tensions and barriers. This four-step narrative literature review, guided by an explorative scoping approach, first provided and overview of the suggested pedagogical strategies, and then identified the corresponding challenges, tensions, and opportunities. The literature revealed four groups of decolonial pedagogic strategies, namely 1) relational pedagogies and student agency, 2) place-based and community-centered Learning, 3) reflexivity and critical consciousness, and 4) creative and arts-based pedagogies. These provide a useful toolkit for educators seeking to transform their pedagogy by challenging the hierarchical, decontextualized and transactional "banking model" conceptualized by Freire.

The second part of the review identified the following categories of tensions and barriers:

1) the inherent coloniality of academia and western universities as institutions, 2) the coloniality of knowledge, 3) the emotional load of decolonial work, 4) the lack of diversity in faculty and student bodies and 5) neoliberal pressures that shape educational priorities. These findings reveal that the implementation of decolonial pedagogy is significantly constrained by structural, institutional, epistemic, and emotional barriers, all of which are either directly caused by, or related to persisting colonial legacies at different levels. This highlights a central contradiction: The very structures that decolonial pedagogy seeks to transform are those that restrict its transformative potential.

In light of this contradiction, scholars argue that institutionalized measures can offer crucial support. However, they must be paired with bottom-up approaches that uphold the underlying decolonial ethics and prioritize context, community, and continuous critical engagement. Rather than relying on technocratic solutions or performative, tokenistic gestures, decolonization must remain an open-ended, reflexive, and disruptive process, and, as Haraway calls it, "stay with the trouble". Meaningful transformation lies not in a single strategy, but in nurturing individual spaces where decolonial values can be practiced, embodied and expanded.

While some voices demand a more radical revolution, transformative change from within the system may currently represent the most viable opportunity. These efforts may not be able to fully dismantle the colonial underpinnings of the university, but they can serve as exemplary alternatives within the current system – "real utopias" that challenge its inevitability and make alternative futures more imaginable. Although this approach does not provide clear instructions nor guaranteed success, it avoids both performative optimism and resignation. Instead it calls for slow, collective, situated work, grounded in commitment to learn from and with each other in the messy, unfinished project of decolonization. Institutions may never be fully capable of enacting this depth of transformation on their own, but those of us inside them can unite to create something different.

References

- Allen, S. and Girei, E. (2024) Developing decolonial reflexivity: decolonizing management education by confronting white-skin, white identities and whiteness. Academy of Management Learning and Education, 23 (2). pp. 246-264. ISSN 1537-260X
- Barnett-Naghshineh, O., & Pattathu, A. (2021). Introduction to the Special Issue Decolonizing Anthropology: Race, Emotions and Pedagogies in the European Classroom. Teaching Anthropology, Vol. 10, No. 4, pp. 1-16. https://doi.org/10.22582/ta.v10i4.638
- Bundesministerium für Wirtschaftliche Zusammenarbeit und Entwicklung. (2023).

 Kolonialismus und Aufarbeitung der Vergangenheit.

 https://www.bmz.de/de/themen/kolonialitaet/historischer-hintergrund-168850
- Canagarajah, S. (2023). Decolonization as pedagogy: a praxis of 'becoming' in ELT. ELT Journal. https://doi.org/10.1093/elt/ccad017
- Castillo-Montoya, M., & Madriaga, M. (2024). Decolonizing assessment of learning in higher education: the journey ahead. Teaching in Higher Education, 30(2), 555–564. https://doi-org.proxy-ub.rug.nl/10.1080/13562517.2024.2350006
- Castro Romero, M., & Capella Palacios, M. (2020). Co-constructing a decolonising praxis in academia through dialogues and pedagogical experiences between the UK and Ecuador. International review of psychiatry (Abingdon, England), 32(4), 365–373. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540261.2020.1762548
- Césaire, A., & Kelley, R. D. G. (2000). Discourse on colonialism. Monthly Review Press. http://site.ebrary.com/id/10642321
- Chambers, L. A., Jackson, R., Worthington, C., Wilson, C. L., Tharao, W., Greenspan, N. R., Masching, R., Pierre-Pierre, V., Mbulaheni, T., Amirault, M., & Brownlee, P. (2018).

- Decolonizing Scoping Review Methodologies for Literature With, for, and by Indigenous Peoples and the African Diaspora: Dialoguing With the Tensions. Qualitative Health Research, 28(2), 175–188. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317743237
- Chaussée, A. S., Winter, J., & Ayres, P. (2022). Approaches to
- Cheang, S., & Suterwalla, S. (2020). Decolonizing the Curriculum? Transformation, Emotion, and Positionality in Teaching. Fashion Theory, 24(6), 879–900. https://doi.org/10.1080/1362704X.2020.1800989
- Cortés, L. S. M. (2017). Indigenous youth graduating from intercultural universities: Capability building through intercultural higher education in Veracruz, Mexico. Journal of Intercultural Studies, 38(2), 155–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/07256868 .2017.1291496

 Curricula and Pedagogy in Higher Education." In Decolonising Curricula and Pedagogy in
- Dache, A., Blue, J., Bovell, D., Miguest, D., Osifeso, S., & Tucux, F. (2021). A Calle decolonial hack: Afro-Latin theorizing of Philadelphia's spaces of learning and resistance. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 1077–1097. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1940927
- Davis, L., Hare, J., Hiller, C., Morcom, L., & Taylor, L. K. (2018). Conversations about indigenizing, decolonizing and transformative pedagogical practices. ojs.library.ubc.ca. https://doi.org/10.14288/cjne.v40i1.196600
- Davis, L., Hare, J., Hiller, C., Morcom, L., & Taylor, L. K. (2018). Conversations about indigenizing, decolonizing and transformative pedagogical practices. ojs.library.ubc.ca. https://doi.org/10.14288/cjne.v40i1.196600

- De Carvalho, J. J., & Flórez-Flórez, J. (2014). The meeting of knowledges: A project for the decolonization of universities in Latin America. Postcolonial Studies, 17(2), 122–139. https://doi.org/10.1080/13688790.2014.966411
- De Carvalho, J. J., Cohen, L. B., Corrêa, A. F., Chada, S., & Nakayama, P. (2016). The Meeting of Knowledges as a Contribution to Ethnomusicology and Music Education. The World of Music, 5(1), 111–133. http://www.jstor.org/stable/44652698
- decolonising forensic curricula. Science & Justice, 62(6), 795-804
- Dei, G. (2016). Decolonizing the University: the Challenges and Possibilities of Inclusive Education. Socialist Studies, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.18740/s4ww31
- Dénommé-Welch, S., & Montero, M. K. (2014). De/colonizing preservice teacher education:

 Theatre of the academic absurd. Journal of Language & Literacy Education, 10(1),

 136–165.
- Du Plessis, P. (2021). Decolonisation of education in South Africa: Challenges to decolonise the university curriculum. South African Journal of Higher Education. https://doi.org/10.20853/35-1-4426
- Eaton, S. E. (2024). Decolonizing academic integrity: knowledge caretaking as ethical practice.

 Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 49(7), 962–977.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2024.2312918
- Eizadirad, A. (2019). Decolonizing Educational Assessment Models. In: Decolonizing Educational Assessment. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-27462-7 10
- Fanon, F., & Appiah, A. (2008). Black skin, white masks (; R. Philcox, Trans.; First edition, New edition). Grove Press.

- Fanon, F., Sartre, J.-P., & Bhabha, H. K. (2004). The wretched of the earth (; R. Philcox, Trans.).

 Grove Press.
- Fomunyam, K. G. (2019). Decolonising higher education in the era of globalisation and internationalisation. UJ Press. 10.18820/9781928424277
- Freeborn, P. (2024). The HeArt of Decolonizing Education (pp. 1–41). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/979-8-3693-1870-6.ch001
- Freire, P., & Macedo, D. P. (2014). Pedagogy of the oppressed (; M. B. Ramos, Trans.; 30th anniversary edition). Bloomsbury Academic, an imprint of Bloomsbury Publishing. http://site.ebrary.com/id/10910323
- Freire, P. 1996. Pedagogy of the Oppressed. UK: Penguin Classics.
- Fricker, M., & Oxford University Press. (2007). Epistemic injustice: power and the ethics of knowing. Oxford University Press. http://site.ebrary.com/id/10220003
- Gahman, L., & Legault, G. (2019). Disrupting the settler colonial university: Decolonial praxis and placed-based education in the Okanagan Valley (British Columbia). Capitalism Nature Socialism, 30(1), 50–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/104 55752.2017.1368680
- Garcia, J., & Shirley, V. (2012). Performing Decolonization: Lessons Learned from Indigenous Youth, Teachers and Leaders' Engagement with Critical Indigenous Pedagogy. https://journal.jctonline.org/index.php/jct/article/view/366
- Gill, H. & Uppal, M. (2020). Decolonizing the Concept of Pedagogy of Discomfort in Classrooms, Curriculum and Syllabi. In Mazawi, A. E., & Stack, M. Course syllabi in faculties of education: bodies of knowledge and their discontents, international and comparative perspectives (pp. 119-131). Bloomsbury Academic.

- Godsell, S., Shabangu, B., & Primrose, G. (2024). Against colonial residues, towards decolonising assessment: a case study of a university history course. Cogent Education, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2024.2362552
- Gopal, P. (2021). On Decolonisation and the University. Textual Practice. 35. 1-27. 10.1080/0950236X.2021.1929561.
- Gregory, A. T., & Denniss, A. R. (2018). An Introduction to Writing Narrative and Systematic Reviews Tasks, Tips and Traps for Aspiring Authors. Heart, Lung & Circulation, 27(7), 893–898. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlc.2018.03.027
- Gurminder, K., Bhambra., Dalia, Gebrial. & Kerem, Nişancıoğlu. (2018). Decolonising the university. Pluto Press. http://library.oapen.org/handle/20.500.12657/25936
- Guzmán Valenzuela, C. (2021). Disrupting curricula and pedagogies in Latin American universities: six criteria for decolonising the university. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 1019–1037. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1935846
- Hall, R., Ansley, L., Connolly, P., Loonat, S., Patel, K., & Whitham, B. (2021). Struggling for the anti-racist university: learning from an institution-wide response to curriculum decolonisation. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 902–919.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1911987
- Hall, R., Ansley, L., Connolly, P., Loonat, S., Patel, K., & Whitham, B. (2021). Struggling for the anti-racist university: learning from an institution-wide response to curriculum decolonisation. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 902–919.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1911987
- Hall, R., Ansley, L., Connolly, P., Loonat, S., Patel, K., & Whitham, B. (2021). Struggling for the anti-racist university: learning from an institution-wide response to curriculum

- decolonisation. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 902–919. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1911987
- Haraway, D. J. (2016). Staying with the trouble: making kin in the Chthulucene. Duke University Press.
- Hayes, A., Luckett, K., & Misiaszek, G. (2021). Possibilities and complexities of decolonising higher education: critical perspectives on praxis. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 887–901. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1971384
- Hendricks, F., Singleton, M., Clark, A., Mishin, M., & Epps, M. (2023). A Narrative Review of Student Evaluations of Teaching in Decolonial Praxis: Implications for Occupational Therapy Higher Education. The Open Journal of Occupational Therapy, 11(1), 1–16.
 https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1969
- Higher Education Bringing Decolonial Theory into Contact with Teaching Practice, edited by
- Hlatshwayo, M.N., Adendorff, H., Blackie, M.A.L., Fataar, A., & Maluleka, P. (Eds.). (2022).

 Decolonising Knowledge and Knowers: Struggles for University Transformation in South Africa (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003106968
- Hoyos, M. (2023). Decolonial Practices in Higher Education from the Global South: A
 Systematic Literature Review. Journal of Comparative & International Higher Education.
 15. 12-26. 10.32674/jcihe.v15i5.5299.
- Hoyos, Maryluz. (2023). Decolonial Practices in Higher Education from the Global South: A Systematic Literature Review. Journal of Comparative & International Higher Education. 15. 12-26. 10.32674/jcihe.v15i5.5299.
- Inczauskis, D., J., W. (2023). Teaching Methods for Liberation: Practical Insights from Liberation Theology. In Pipe, L. M., & Stephens, J. T. (Eds.). Ignite: decolonial approach

- to higher education through space, place and culture. Vernon Press.

 https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&scope=site&db=nlebk&db=nlabk&

 AN=3579606
- Kennedy, M., Maddox, R., Booth, K., Maidment, S., Chamberlain, C., & Bessarab, D. (2022).

 Decolonising qualitative research with respectful, reciprocal, and responsible research practice: a narrative review of the application of Yarning method in qualitative Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health research. International Journal for Equity in Health, 21(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-022-01738-w
- Kulago, H. A., Guernsey, P., & Wapeemukwa, W. (2023). "It Feels Fake": Decolonizing

 Curriculum and Pedagogy in Predominantly White Institutions. Occasional Paper Series,

 2023(49), 7.
- Kulago, H. A., Wapeemukwa, W., Guernsey, P. J., & Black, M. (2021). Land, Water,
 Mathematics, and Relationships: What Does Creating Decolonizing and Indigenous
 Curricula Ask of Us? Educational Studies: Journal of the American Educational Studies
 Association, 57(3), 345–363.
- Kvangraven, I. H., & Kesar, S. (2022). Standing in the way of rigor? Economics' meeting with the decolonization agenda. Review of International Political Economy, 30(5), 1723–1748. https://doi.org/10.1080/09692290.2022.2131597
- Lau, L., & Mendes, A. C. (2024). Decolonizing the Global North university: Host-guest dynamics and the limits of hospitality. Arts and Humanities in Higher Education, 23(3), 266-284. https://doi.org/10.1177/14740222241251729 (Original work published 2024)
- Leenen-Young, M., Naepi, S., Thomsen, P. S., Fa'avae, D. T. M., Keil, M., & Matapo, J. (2021). 'Pillars of the colonial institution are like a knowledge prison': the significance of

- decolonizing knowledge and pedagogical practice for Pacific early career academics in higher education. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 986–1001. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1928062
- Leenen-Young, M., Naepi, S., Thomsen, P. S., Fa'avae, D. T. M., Keil, M., & Matapo, J. (2021).
 'Pillars of the colonial institution are like a knowledge prison': the significance of decolonizing knowledge and pedagogical practice for Pacific early career academics in higher education. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 986–1001.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1928062
- Le Grange, L. (2016). Decolonising the university curriculum. South African Journal of Higher Education, 30(2), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.20853/30-2-709
- Louie, D. W., Poitras-Pratt, Y., Hanson, A. J., & Ottmann, J. (2017). Applying Indigenizing principles of decolonizing methodologies in university classrooms. Canadian Journal of Higher Education, 47(3), 16–33. https://doi.org/10.7202/1043236ar
- Mabingo, A. (2015). Decolonizing dance pedagogy: Application of pedagogies of Ugandan traditional dances in formal dance education. Journal of Dance Education, 15(4), 131–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/15290824.2015.1023953
- McGuire, M. M., & Murdoch, D. J. (2023). "A Lot of my Day is Spent Looking at Injustice": Reflections on Decolonizing Teaching and Relationship Building across Difference.

 Journal of Criminal Justice Education, 34(4), 535–552.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10511253.2022.2121001
- McGuire, M. M., & Murdoch, D. J. (2023). "A Lot of my Day is Spent Looking at Injustice": Reflections on Decolonizing Teaching and Relationship Building across Difference.

- Journal of Criminal Justice Education, 34(4), 535–552. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511253.2022.2121001
- McGuire, M. M., & Murdoch, D. J. (2023). "A Lot of my Day is Spent Looking at Injustice": Reflections on Decolonizing Teaching and Relationship Building across Difference.

 Journal of Criminal Justice Education, 34(4), 535–552.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10511253.2022.2121001
- McLeod, S. (2024). Doing a Scoping Review: A Practical, Step-by-Step Guide. 10.13140/RG.2.2.23703.79528.
- Menon, S., Green, C., Charbonneau, I., Lehtomäki, E., & Mafi, B. (2021). Approaching global education development with a decolonial lens: teachers 'reflections. Teaching in Higher Education. 26. 1-16. 10.1080/13562517.2021.1941845.
- Menon, Sharanya & Green, Crystal & Charbonneau, Irène & Lehtomäki, Elina & Mafi, Boby. (2021). Approaching global education development with a decolonial lens: teachers 'reflections. Teaching in Higher Education. 26. 1-16. 10.1080/13562517.2021.1941845.
- Millner, N. (2021). Unsettling feelings in the classroom: scaffolding pedagogies of discomfort as part of decolonising human geography in higher education. Journal of Geography in Higher Education, 47(5), 805–824. https://doi.org/10.1080/03098265.2021.2004391
- Mills, C. W. (1997). The Racial Contract. Cornell University Press. http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7591/j.ctt5hh1wj
- Moosavi, L. (2020). The decolonial bandwagon and the dangers of intellectual decolonisation.

 International Review of Sociology, 30(2), 332–354.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03906701.2020.1776919
- Morreira, S., K. Luckett, S. Kumalo, and M. Ramgotra. 2021. "Introduction: Decolonising

- Naseem, J. (2024). A systematic review of improvements and challenges in decolonising activities and initiatives in UK higher education. Birmingham, UK. Society for Research in Higher Education. Retrieved from https://srhe.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/12/Naseem-SRHE-final-report-July-2024-RE VISED.pdf
- Nicol, C., Gerofsky, S., Nolan, K., Francis, K., & Fritzlan, A. (2020). Teacher Professional Learning with/in Place: Storying the Work of Decolonizing Mathematics Education from within a Colonial Structure. Can. J. Sci. Math. Techn. Educ. 20, 190–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42330-020-00080-z
- Nisa-Waller, A., & Piercy, G. L. (2024). Autoethnography as a decolonising tool: bringing identity into the classroom. Higher Education Research & Development, 43(5), 1142–1155. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2024.2307924
- Omodan, B. I. (2022). The Potency of Ubuntugogy as a Decolonised Pedagogy in Universities:

 Challenges and solutions. Walter Sisulu University. African Perspectives of Research in

 Teaching & Learning, Vol. 6.
- Opini, B. & Neeganagwedgin, E. (2020). Centering INdigenous and Decolonizing Pedagogy:
 The Complexities, Tensions, and Possibilities of Doing Spirit Work in Teacher Education.
 In Mazawi, A. E., & Stack, M. Course syllabi in faculties of education: bodies of knowledge and their discontents, international and comparative perspectives (pp. 132-150). Bloomsbury Academic.
- Penny, E., Nicki, H. (2023). 1. Decolonizing higher education: the university in the new age of Empire. Journal of Philosophy of Education, doi: 10.1093/jopedu/qhad052

- Pipe, L. M., & Stephens, J. T. (2023). Ignite: decolonial approach to higher education through space, place and culture. Vernon Press.

 https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&scope=site&db=nlebk&db=nlabk&AN=3579606
- Pollock, D., Evans, C., Menghao Jia, R., Alexander, L., Pieper, D., Brandão de Moraes, É., Peters, M. D.J., Tricco, A. C., Khalil, H., Godfrey, C. M., Saran, A., Campbell, F., & Munn, Z. (2024). "How-to": scoping review?, Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, Volume 176, 111572, ISSN 0895-4356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2024.111572.
- African Society.

 https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Kwesi-Prah/publication/341702808_The_Challenge
 _of_Decolonizing_Education_CASAS_Book_Series_No_128/links/5ecfa2754585152945

18fa79/The-Challenge-of-Decolonizing-Education-CASAS-Book-Series-No-128.pdf

Prah, K. K. (2018). The Challenge of Decolonizing Education. Centre for Advanced Studies of

- Pryor, J., & Crossouard, B. (2008). A socio-cultural theorisation of formative assessment.

 Oxford Review of Education, 34(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054980701476386
- Ralph, N., Ainsworth, P., & Fu, Y. (2023). Decolonising Assessment: rethinking and reshaping assessment to remove bias. 10.13140/RG.2.2.23845.88800.
- Rashed, D., & Suarez, D. (2024). Female Leadership Identity in English Language Teaching:

 Autoethnographies of Global Perspectives. BRILL.

 https://public.ebookcentral.proquest.com/choice/PublicFullRecord.aspx?p=31554047
- Rashed, D., & Suarez, D. (2024). Female Leadership Identity in English Language Teaching:

 Autoethnographies of Global Perspectives. BRILL.

 https://public.ebookcentral.proquest.com/choice/PublicFullRecord.aspx?p=31554047

- Regmi, K. D. (2025). Decolonising meritocratic higher education: key challenges and directions for change. Globalisation, Societies and Education, 23(3), 766–783. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767724.2023.2210516
- S. Morreira, K. Luckett, S. Kumalo, and M. Ramgotra. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Sabati, S., Beckett, L., Cragun-Rehders, K., Najera, A., Hise, K., & Geiger, A. (2021). Distilling pedagogies of critical water studies. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 1098–1112. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1962273
- Santos, B. d. S. (2018). The end of the cognitive empire: the coming of age of epistemologies of the South. Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781478002000
- Seniuk Cicek, J., Steele, A., Gauthier, S., Adobea Mante, A., Wolf, P., Robinson, M., &
 Mattucci, S. (2021). Indigenizing Engineering education in Canada: critically considered.
 Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 1038–1059.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1935847
- Shahjahan, R. A., Estera, A. L., Surla, K. L., & Edwards, K. T. (2022). "Decolonizing"

 Curriculum and Pedagogy: A Comparative Review across Disciplines and Global Higher

 Education Contexts. Review of Educational Research, 92(1), 73–113.
- Shaik, A., & Kahn, P. (2021). Understanding the challenges entailed in decolonising a Higher Education institution: an organisational case study of a research-intensive South African university. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 969–985.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1928064
- Shain, F., Yıldız, Ü. K., Poku, V., & Gokay, B. (2021). From silence to 'strategic advancement': institutional responses to 'decolonising' in higher education in England. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 920–936. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1976749

- Silva, K., & Pereira, L. S. (2023). Decolonizing the Internationalization of Higher Education in the Global South: Applying Principles of Critical Applied Linguistics to Processes of Internationalization. 10.4324/9781003409205.
- Stein, S., & Silva, J. E. (2020). Challenges and complexities of decolonizing internationalization in a time of global crises. ETD Educação Temática Digital. 22.

 10.20396/etd.v22i3.8659310.
- Stein, S., De Oliveira Andreotti, V., Hunt, D., & Ahenakew, C. (2021). Complexities and challenges of decolonizing higher education: Lessons from Canada. In S. H. Kumalo (Ed.), Decolonisation as democratisation: Global insights into the South Africa experience. UKZN Press.
- Stein, S., De Oliveira Andreotti, V., Ahenakew, C., Hunt, D. (2022). The complexities and paradoxes of decolonization in education. 10.4324/9781003207528-14.
- Stroud, C. & Kerfoot, C. (2021). Decolonizing Higher Education: Multilingualism, Linguistic Citizenship and Epistemic Justice. 10.5040/9781350049109.ch-002.
- Sukhera J. (2022). Narrative Reviews: Flexible, Rigorous, and Practical. Journal of graduate medical education, 14(4), 414–417. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-22-00480.1
- Tynan, L., & Bishop, M. (2023). Decolonizing the Literature Review: A Relational Approach.

 Qualitative Inquiry, 29(3-4), 498-508. https://doi.org/10.1177/10778004221101594
- Vale, M., & Torres, L. (2023). Dialogic teaching practice as a decolonial strategy in visual arts and design. https://doi.org/10.53660/clm-2112-23p47
- Verlinghieri, E., & Middleton, J. (2020). Decolonising and provincializing knowledge within the neoliberal university? The challenge of teaching about sustainable transport. Journal of Transport Geography, 88, 102785.

- Wenger, E. (1998). Communities of practice: learning, meaning, and identity. Cambridge University Press.
- Wernicke, M. (2021). Four 'moments' of intercultural encountering. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7–8), 1130–1140. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1911988
- Wichert, S. M. (2024a). The Crisis of Imagination in the Energy Transition: How the 'Green Growth' Narrative Reproduces Neoliberal and Capitalist Hegemony, and Constrains the Political Imagination of Alternative Ecological Futures [Unpublished paper]. University College Fryslân, University of Groningen.
- Wichert, S. M. (2024b). Why We Should Decolonize the White, Western University [Unpublished paper]. University College Fryslân, University of Groningen.
- Williams, B. C. (2016). Radical honesty: Truth-telling as pedagogy for working through shame in academic spaces. In Race, Equity, and the Learning Environment (pp. 71-82).

 Routledge.
- Wright, E. O. (2011). Real Utopias. Contexts, 10(2), 36-42. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536504211408884 (Original work published 2011)
- Zembylas, M. (2018). Decolonial possibilities in South African higher education: Reconfiguring humanising pedagogies as/with decolonising pedagogies. South African Journal of Education. 38. 1-11. 10.15700/saje.v38n4a1699.
- Zembylas, M. (2021). Refusal as affective and pedagogical practice in higher education decolonization: a modest proposal. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(7), 953–968. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2021.1900816

Appendix

Statement of Academic Integrity

This thesis was written semi-independently with the guidance of my supervisor, who provided thoughtful feedback and ensured the alignment with scholarly standards. Meanwhile, all analysis, interpretation, and writing was conducted independently. The use of AI-based tools was limited to the following purposes: During my narrative review process, I selectively utilized NotebookLM to help identify the relevance of (pre-selected) sources, by uploading papers and inquiring about their contents. All papers included in this work were then critically assessed by myself. Additionally, DeepL and ChatGPT were used for language clarity and grammar improvements. Finally, all arguments that are based on information from other sources are indicated as such.